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          1  COMMITTEE ON WATERFRONTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Okay, today's

          3  meeting on Waterfronts will commence.  I want to

          4  thank all of you for coming today.  Some of the

          5  other members, it's one of those days, Joe Addabbo

          6  is also Chair of the Civil Service and Labor

          7  Committee, which is being conducted right now across

          8  the street, and Alan Gerson's mother had surgery,

          9  and a few of the other Members are now in budget

         10  negotiating, which Council Member Fidler was at

         11  also, but since it's his bill he took a moment out

         12  to join us.

         13                 My name is Mike Nelson.  Good morning

         14  and welcome to everybody today.  I have the honor to

         15  Chair this Committee.  The subject of today's

         16  hearing is Caution on the Water, Personal Watercraft

         17  Safety.  Today we will be discussing Intro No. 563

         18  regarding the sale and rental of personal watercraft

         19  in New York City.

         20                 It should not come as a surprise to

         21  anyone who is familiar with the New York Waterfront

         22  that recreational boating is becoming increasingly

         23  popular.  New York City has over 50,000 registered

         24  vessels and thousands more non-mechanically

         25  propelled boats which do not require registration.
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          2  While only a small number of those vessels are

          3  classified as personal watercraft, their presence is

          4  increasing.

          5                 Historically across the State,

          6  personal watercraft accounted for only ten percent

          7  of the vessels on the water, yet were responsible

          8  for nearly 30 percent of the accidents.  Recent

          9  efforts by the State included requiring all riders

         10  of personal watercraft to obtain boating safety

         11  certificates have helped to reduce the number of

         12  accidents, but of course there's still room for

         13  improvement and ergo, that's why we're here.

         14                 Accidents involving personal

         15  watercraft are disproportionally serious because of

         16  the speed of which the vessels can travel and the

         17  vulnerability of the operator and passengers who are

         18  riding on instead of inside the vessel are exposed.

         19  Broken bones, lacerations and head and neck injuries

         20  are sadly not uncommon and as we found out many

         21  times neither is death.  Last June a Brooklyn

         22  teenager riding on a personal watercraft died in a

         23  heads- on collision with another personal

         24  watercraft.  Reports at the time indicated that

         25  there were as many as six personal watercraft in the
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          2  area and that many of their operators were involved

          3  in reckless behavior and that none of the operators

          4  were wearing personal floatation devices.  This is

          5  exactly what we are hoping to avoid when passing

          6  Intro No. 563.

          7                 This bill does essentially three

          8  things.  First it would give the New York City

          9  Department of Consumer Affairs the authority to see

         10  that the State code governing the sale and rental of

         11  personal watercraft is being followed by local

         12  retailers. Secondly it would ensure that no personal

         13  watercraft can be sold in the City, that is not

         14  legal to operate in the waters of New York State.

         15  And third, it would require a notice to be affixed

         16  to the exterior of all personal watercraft sold in

         17  the City, informing the operator and passengers that

         18  State Law requires them to wear personal floatation

         19  devices at all times when operating or riding on

         20  these vessels.  We may not be able to stop an

         21  individual from behaving recklessly once they get on

         22  the water, but perhaps we can take more seriously,

         23  cause them to have more responsibility by making our

         24  best efforts to see that these machines stay out of

         25  the hands of those who are most likely to abuse
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          2  them.  And we believe that we can do that by making

          3  sure that the State Law governing the sale or rental

          4  of personal watercraft is rigorously applied.

          5                 I'd like to welcome Council Member

          6  Melissa Mark Viverito, and as I mentioned before

          7  Deputy Majority Leader Louis Fidler with us today.

          8  Would any of my colleagues like to -- thank you,

          9  Council Member Fidler.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you

         11  Council Member and I look forward to the testimony

         12  of the Police Department today.  As the prime

         13  sponsor of the Intro before us today, I was

         14  motivated by the death of Paul Zacharias (phonetic)

         15  last year off the coast of Southern Brooklyn in a

         16  jet- ski accident, well I guess accident would be a

         17  bad word since the other operator has been indicted

         18  for his conduct in causing it.  Having that

         19  unfortunate incident occur and having it been

         20  brought to my attention, we did some extensive

         21  research into the rules of the City and found that

         22  they were frankly honored more in the breach than in

         23  the reality that enforcement on our waterfronts in

         24  terms of recreational vehicles is more passing than

         25  real considering the large number of recreational
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          2  vehicles that there are out there and that number

          3  I'm sure is growing.  And that's a good thing that

          4  it's growing, I think that we don't take advantage

          5  of the fabulous waterfront that we have in New York

          6  City in a great enough way.  I certainly know from

          7  the enthusiasts in Garrett's and Creek the push/pull

          8  between the sailboat guys and the jet- ski guys and

          9  the problems that we have coordinating each of their

         10  rights to enjoy the waterfront as they see fit.  But

         11  we also found that there were dangers in the breach.

         12  First the fact that something is State Law and not

         13  codified by the City limited the number of City

         14  agencies that would be able to and certainly would

         15  be encouraged to enforce it.  As well, we found that

         16  many, many of the operators were not aware that you

         17  have to wear a lifejacket, I love the term personal

         18  floatation device. They have to wear a lifejacket

         19  approved by the United States Coast Guard before you

         20  operate a jet- ski and I think that in and of itself

         21  tells me that the operators are taking these

         22  joyrides without realizing that they are taking a

         23  significant risk in doing so and therefore, having a

         24  sticker or a notation on every jet- ski reminding

         25  the operator that the law requires them to wear a
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          2  lifejacket may save a life or two and that would be

          3  well worth it.

          4                 I would love to see a greater and

          5  more coordinated enforcement in our waterways.  I'm

          6  interested in hearing what our witnesses have to say

          7  about that and I want to thank Chairmen Nelson for

          8  not only cosponsoring this legislation, but for

          9  bringing this hearing at such an incredibly timely

         10  moment on a day when it's blazing hot outside and

         11  I'm sure that everyone is lubing-up their jet-ski's

         12  and throwing them out into Garrett's and Creek and

         13  Mill Creek and all those places now, so thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you

         15  Council Member Fidler.  And now as we know Marki

         16  Hill (phonetic) just died from accidental drowning

         17  falling off a jet- ski in New Orleans just over the

         18  weekend.  So evidently this is an important issue.

         19  And I would like to ask the people in the panel to

         20  first please identify themselves and before they

         21  make their presentation.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 MR. DRISCOLL:  Deputy Inspector David

         24  Driscoll, I'm with the New York City Police

         25  Department Harbor Unit, Commanding Officer.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:

          3  Assistant Commissioner Intergovernmental Affairs,

          4  Police Department.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  I didn't catch

          6  the name?

          7                 SERGEANT HORVAC: Sergeant Tom Horvac

          8  (phonetic), NYPD Harbor Unit.

          9                 MR. EILER:  Andy Eiler, Director of

         10  Legislative Affairs for New York City Consumer

         11  Affair Department.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you.

         13                 MR. DRISCOLL:  We'll start?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Sure, thank you.

         15                 MR. DRISCOLL:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         16  Chairman and Members of the Council.  I am Deputy

         17  Inspector David Driscoll, Commanding Officer of the

         18  NYPD's Harbor Unit.  On behalf of Police

         19  Commissioner Raymond Kelly, I am pleased to be here

         20  today to discuss the bill before you, Intro No. 563.

         21                 The bill would add a new subchapter

         22  to Title 20 of the New York City Administrative

         23  Code, governing the sale or rental of personal

         24  watercraft.  We commend the Council on its interest

         25  in the safety of New York City's waterways, an
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          2  interest which we share as the core of Harbor Unit's

          3  mission to protect life and property on the water.

          4                 The Harbor Unit is responsible for

          5  patrolling 146 square miles of navigable waterway

          6  and 576 miles of waterfront. Our fleet consists of

          7  25 launches of various sizes ranging from 24 feet to

          8  55 feet.  They are deployed with personnel trained

          9  to handle a wide variety of missions, performing

         10  traditional law enforcement, search and rescue, and

         11  counter terrorism functions. New York City's

         12  waterways present a challenging and complex

         13  environment, including everything from placid bays,

         14  to rivers with dangerously swift currents, to the

         15  ocean itself, which are all used by both commercial

         16  and recreational vessels of every conceivable size

         17  as well as by swimmers, kayakers and of course

         18  operators of personal watercraft, or PWC's.

         19                 We commend the Council on the intent

         20  expressed under 563.  It is our understanding that

         21  the bill is inspired by a tragedy which occurred

         22  last June in which a 17- year- old victim was killed

         23  in a personal watercraft collision, with the

         24  operator ultimately indicted for manslaughter in the

         25  second degree, criminally negligent homicide and
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          2  reckless endangerment in the second degree.  Our

          3  mutual concern is even more pressing now that the

          4  summer months are approaching.  Waterways are

          5  becoming busier as the weather warms up, and we are

          6  implementing initiatives to address not only person

          7  watercraft but water safety in general.

          8                 We routinely pull over small vessels

          9  including personal watercraft to conduct safety

         10  inspections.  We issue summonses under the

         11  Navigation Law when we find the operators of

         12  personal watercraft fail to have equipment on board

         13  as required by Nav Law 73- a, or do not possess a

         14  boating safety certificate, which is required by Nav

         15  Law Section 49.

         16                 In 2006, we conducted over 500

         17  motorboat inspections, 146 of these were inspections

         18  of personal watercraft. Also in 2006 we issued a

         19  total of 87 summonses to personal watercraft

         20  operators, including nine for reckless operation, 25

         21  for failure to have a boating safety certificate, 53

         22  for failure to have required equipment.  Last year

         23  there were 13 boating accidents recording by the

         24  Harbor Unit on the New York City's waterways.  Six

         25  of the thirteen accidents involved collisions of two
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          2  types of craft, four of those six involved jet-

          3  ski's, and that caused one fatality which we

          4  discussed before.

          5                 Personal watercraft are fast and

          6  light and their operators can be young and

          7  inexperienced.  It is therefore important that their

          8  operation be sufficiently regulated and we find that

          9  the Navigation Law contains significant provisions

         10  ensuring that boater safety is paramount.  We are

         11  therefore concerned that Intro 563, which

         12  substantially duplicates the provisions of the

         13  Navigation Law may in fact be preempted.  Much of

         14  the language is identical with two differences.

         15  Intro 563 applies not only to the rental of the

         16  personal watercraft but also to their retail sale

         17  and the penalties for violation are greatly

         18  enhanced. It is suggested that the raising of the

         19  penalties for essentially the same violation, at

         20  least with respect to the rental of personal

         21  watercraft presents an issue which will require

         22  further consideration.

         23                 We also note that some of the

         24  provisions of the bill are not necessarily as

         25  effective when addressed to sale rather than rental
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          2  of a personal watercraft, since the person buying

          3  the vessel may not be the ultimate operator, for

          4  example a parent buying it for their son or

          5  daughter.

          6                 In conclusion, from a public safety

          7  standpoint we commend the Council on its interest in

          8  educating the public and ensuring the safety of

          9  personal watercraft, especially by including a

         10  requirement for safety signage regarding the PFD's,

         11  however, we are unable to support the bill in its

         12  current form.

         13                 Thank you for inviting us to discuss

         14  Intro 563 and the continued support of the work of

         15  the New York City Police Department.  We will be

         16  pleased to answer your questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you, any

         18  questions right now?  Okay.  Sure.  Councilman

         19  Fidler.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  As so often

         21  happens, I'm a little confused.  You believe that

         22  it's important that the operation of jet- ski's be

         23  sufficiently regulated and then you say you can't

         24  support the bill in its current form.  Do you have

         25  an objection to the bill other than the fact that it
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          2  might be preempted?

          3                 MR. DRISCOLL:  There's issues with

          4  respect to whether or not we can have confidence

          5  that the retailer when selling the boat to a

          6  consumer, that consumer is going to be the ultimate

          7  operator of that vessel.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I understand

          9  and that's the same unfortunate circumstance that

         10  happens with a car. So I don't know that there's any

         11  way to get around that but isn't at least the

         12  attempt, because if you're selling it to a parent

         13  because we are again recodifying that you cannot

         14  sell it to someone who legally cannot operate it on

         15  their own, at least the hope that in providing this

         16  education to the parent that they are going to make

         17  sure that their child does not misuse it?  Isn't

         18  that a good thing?

         19                 MR. DRISCOLL:  Education in terms of

         20  safety is always a good thing.  I think the

         21  structure of the bill, Sue could probably address

         22  this better than I can in terms of preemtiveness is

         23  an issue.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well I just

         25  want to be clear that is there an objection other
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          2  than your concern about pre emption?

          3                 MR. DRISCOLL:  I don't have a

          4  personal objection. I don't know that I speak for

          5  the Administration on that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well, who

          7  does?

          8                 MR. EILER:  Andrew Eiler, Consumer

          9  Affairs Department.  I think the issue that the

         10  retailer -- the bill expands -- right now State Law

         11  covers leases and of course the reason leases are

         12  covered is because the operator, the lessor is able

         13  to determine who is going to be using his equipment

         14  so that therefore all the requisite safety

         15  instructions and whatever are delivered and given to

         16  the person to who is expected to use it.  In a

         17  retail sale situation, however, one aspect of it is

         18  the demonstration of the ability to operate that's

         19  part of the bill, when you're dealing with leasing

         20  it's going to happen at the waterfront almost

         21  certainly so that all these things could be done.

         22  When you're dealing with the retail sale, the

         23  retailer could be miles from the ocean or water and

         24  you could be selling that boat that's going to be

         25  used by any number of family, friends, acquaintances
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          2  and so forth and so on, therefore, to impose this

          3  additional burden on a retailer to do something

          4  which has only minimal possible impact on what we're

          5  seeking to accomplish, which is accomplished in a

          6  leasing situation.  That's the question whether it's

          7   --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Eiler

          9  you're not suggesting that we outlaw the sale of

         10  jet- ski's?

         11                 MR. EILER:  No, no, absolutely not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So since

         13  they're going to continue, because I wouldn't outlaw

         14  their sale either and I'm quite sure the Mayor would

         15  veto a bill that would, you know, I disagree and I

         16  really don't understand giving you the best possible

         17  intentions to your testimony, why you would think it

         18  has a minimal impact.  I would hope that if an adult

         19  is purchasing a jet- ski and they are given proper

         20  instructions, it is better than if they got no

         21  instructions at all.  Clearly it would be wonderful

         22  if every person who used it got that instruction

         23  personally, when at the very least, hey, you want to

         24  use my jet- ski, hey, first I've got to tell you,

         25  you have to wear a life vest, you have to do this,
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          2  this is how it works, these are the rules of the

          3  road, especially if it's my child, my niece, my

          4  nephew, my friend, my friends kid, I'm going to

          5  import that as best I can.  But if I haven't gotten

          6  it, it's less likely that I'm going to do that.  So

          7  how significant is the burden on the retailer to

          8  have to do that, just as the lessor has to do that?

          9  Why is that an issue?

         10                 MR. EILER:  Well as I said, one of

         11  the things about the demonstration that one of the

         12  provisions here is that the person who is buying the

         13  craft be able to demonstrate that the instruction

         14  has taken hold.  Well how are you going to

         15  demonstrate that on dry land?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Isn't there a

         17  provision in the law for video demonstration?

         18                 MR. EILER:  No, that's for providing

         19  the demonstration.  There is a second section of it

         20  that says that the person who is getting the craft

         21  has to demonstrate to the person -- as I say all of

         22  these things are feasible and possible and directly

         23  apply to the person who will be using the craft in a

         24  leasing situation because that's unlikely to happen

         25  unless it's right on the water.  But when you're
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          2  dealing with sale situations, that could happen

          3  anywhere, it could happen between anybody and

          4  there's a huge disconnect between what you're

          5  dealing with is having operators properly safety

          6  trained.  That's akin to having drivers licenses for

          7  driver operators.  No one is required to have a

          8  drivers license to buy a car, they are required to

          9  have one to drive it, and so the issue with respect

         10  to, I think the safety concern is great but the

         11  issue there would be that any operator who actually

         12  operates one of these crafts be properly trained.

         13  That would be the direct involvement so that we

         14  address the direct issue.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  No there's

         16  nothing in this bill that reduces any requirements

         17  for training of anybody, right?

         18                 MR. EILER:  No, no.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Okay, again,

         20  I think about half of your last comment is just

         21  inapposite.  This has nothing to do with not

         22  training people, at worst, this provides unnecessary

         23  training in your view to somebody who may -- is it

         24  not possible to train someone in the use of the jet-

         25  ski without actually putting it in the water and
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          2  riding it?  Giving them some meaningful instruction,

          3  better than nothing?

          4                 MR. EILER:  Possible, I mean I'm not

          5  into that field of -- we're looking at whether or

          6  not the retailer is able and our enforcement of

          7  having to ensure whatever instructions are given.

          8  I'm looking at the sales transaction part of it.  In

          9  terms of whether and how this training can be made

         10  effective and it will impact it upon the operation

         11  of safety on the waters is kind of beyond what we're

         12  talking about.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But isn't

         14  this -- you know, the point of your objection, isn't

         15  it a little bit like chicken soup, I mean it

         16  certainly can't hurt to have at least required the

         17  retailer to explain to the person who is purchasing

         18  it how it's operated, what the risks are, that a

         19  lifejacket is necessary in the hope that, well first

         20  of all they may actually be the operator, sometimes,

         21  not all the time, or that they will pass in part

         22  some of that information on to somebody else.  Or

         23  are we just afraid that the retailer explains to

         24  someone that it's such a significant risk that you

         25  have to wear a lifejacket this that maybe they won't
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          2  buy it.  Is that what you're afraid of?

          3                 MR. EILER:  No.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:   All right, I

          5  still don't get it.  It's not as if people come in

          6  and buy the jet- ski sales business is such a volume

          7  business that you know we hold them up for an extra

          8  15 minutes as they make the sale, right before they,

          9  they explain to everybody, that people are going to

         10  walk out the door because now we've created a log

         11  jam at the jet- ski retailer desk.  I don't see what

         12  possible harm it could be and yet I can see the

         13  possible benefits.  Now the pre- emption issue,

         14  that's a whole legal conundrum, I'm not sure, I'm an

         15  attorney, I'm not sure I would agree with that

         16  conclusion.  But I want to take that preemption

         17  issue out of this and discuss the merits.  And what

         18  I'm not understanding is why you would have an

         19  objection to the merits. Yes, I recognized that the

         20  retailer who may well not be at a body of water and

         21  may not be speaking to the ultimate operator all of

         22  the time is not as good as what happens when a boat

         23  is leased and a guy walks over to the shore, turns

         24  it on, shows him, probably takes a ride back and

         25  forth, you got to do this, you got to wear you
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          2  lifejacket, put on your lifejacket, not as good.

          3  But we don't have that opportunity in the retail

          4  situation.  If you have a better suggestion for how

          5  at the retail level we can provide some of that

          6  safety training, I'm all ears.  But to suggest that

          7  it might not be as effective in a 100 percent of the

          8  circumstances and that places an undue burden on the

          9  retailer, that I can't accept.

         10                 MR. EILER:  I guess I've indicated

         11  the basis for having reservations about going

         12  forward with the way this thing is and its effect,

         13  so I don't think I can add anything further to it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But you don't

         15  think this would have an adverse, because I know the

         16  conversation there going to have with the Bloomberg

         17  Administration when and if we move this legislation,

         18  you don't believe it's going to have an adverse

         19  impact of the sale of jet- skis?

         20                 MR. EILER:  I have no reason to know.

         21    I have no idea what the impact of it is likely to

         22  be.  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So that's not

         24  the basis of your objection.  I just want to be

         25  sure.
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          2                 MR. EILER:  Basically given the fact

          3  that there are requirements imposed on the retailer

          4  that you have to have the training, you have to have

          5  the record keeping, and so forth and so on, I don't

          6  know to what extent that would inhibit people saying

          7  I'm not going to do it.  It depends on what the

          8  business situation is, how much their selling and

          9  whether it's worthwhile, and so forth and so on.  So

         10  I'm not in a position to comment on what the impact

         11  is likely to be with respect to retail sales or

         12  whether what you end up with is the situation where

         13  people go outside the City and --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So it comes

         15  down to, we just don't want to bother the retailers

         16  with all that paperwork?  Is that what it comes down

         17  to?

         18                 MR. EILER:  I think it's a question

         19  of whether or not I mean the effectiveness and who

         20  it reaches and I guess it's a trade- off in terms

         21  of, imposing a requirement, 100 percent of all

         22  retailers requiring to follow- up inspections, and

         23  all this kind of stuff, and a question of just

         24  exactly to what extent are the benefits going to be

         25  delivered from that and as efficiently and
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          2  effectively as alternatives that might be available.

          3     We have questions about that.  That trade- off is

          4  not in the favor of proceeding with this bill.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I would

          6  respectfully say that Mrs. Zacharias would probably

          7  have a different point of view about whether that

          8  trade- off was worth it, and we'll never know.

          9                 Thank you Mr. Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you

         11  Council Member Fidler.

         12                 If we limit it to leasing, would the

         13  administration support it then?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  I

         15  think with leasing the pre- emption issue becomes

         16  even more of a problem because in fact then it's a

         17  direct conflict certainly in terms of penalties with

         18  the State Navigation Law so we would have a great

         19  concern about that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Eighty seven out

         21  of one hundred forty six inspections of the personal

         22  watercraft resulted in summonses, wouldn't that mean

         23  that there's a higher percentage of operators that

         24  are not adequately following the law?

         25                 MR. DRISCOLL:  I think you can
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          2  probably draw that conclusion to some extent.

          3  Sometimes you stop one operator on a jet- ski and he

          4  receives two or three different summonses.  So it's

          5  not necessarily one --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  So it's

          7  cumulative.

          8                 MR. DRISCOLL:  -- Reduction, I would

          9  suspect we see more with PWC's than we would with

         10  the average family boater in terms of either a

         11  safety certificate missing or some of the extensive

         12  equipment that's required.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  What do you

         14  suppose we could do to increase compliance with

         15  State Law then?

         16                 MR. DRISCOLL:  With respect to

         17  lessee's, just as a note of information, we did some

         18  research and we tried to find anybody in New York

         19  that's leasing these things and we weren't able to

         20  locate anybody.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  It's almost all

         22  sales?

         23                 MR. DRISCOLL:  Yes, and of all those,

         24  we found seven places that are selling them and only

         25  one of them was situated on the water.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes, and kids

          3  are going to be kids, we know that, but there seems

          4  to be something, somehow, that's what we're trying

          5  to do, get across advertising.  Parents don't seem

          6  to be often doing their business.

          7                 MR. DRISCOLL:  I can tell you

          8  something, we're pretty involved, and so we

          9  recognize it's a problem.  We have low numbers, only

         10  six collisions of boats in New York City, 24,000

         11  registered boats in the City, it's really a low

         12  number, but four of those involve jet- ski's, so

         13  that's something that we focus our enforcement on.

         14  In 2005, just to give you some kind of reference, we

         15  only had 86 inspections of jet- ski's.  Last year we

         16  did 146, this year, just last weekend, really the

         17  season just started for jet- ski's and we're already

         18  close to 50 motor boat inspections. And in addition

         19  to jet- ski's we also do regular motor boats, over

         20  500 regular motor boats last year, 150 so far this

         21  year.  And as part of our -- that's not just a

         22  strictly enforcement thing that's a reach- out.  We

         23  hand them a handout with informational, I have a

         24  copy of it I'll show it to you afterwards, but we

         25  have some extensive information here.  Not the least
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          2  of which is the importance of wearing these PFD's.

          3  Because we had two or three incidents last year

          4  where if the PFD was being worn we would not have

          5  had a death.  Unfortunately that wasn't the case

          6  with the jet ski accident.  The force of the impact

          7  is what killed that young man.  But in many other

          8  instances, PFD's are critically important and there

          9  are 137 of the yacht clubs or marinas across the

         10  City, by June 15th we'll have personally went out

         11  and spoken to somebody and given them posters

         12  regarding PFD's, regarding Nexus, our

         13  counterterrorism efforts and as you know the boating

         14  community, although large, 157, 24,000 boats,

         15  information flows very quickly from one area to the

         16  other.  So we are getting the word out. People are

         17  aware, especially the jet- ski community which is

         18  again a tight community, and interestingly there's

         19  an assumption that this is all young kids, and we

         20  find that 80 percent of our motorboat inspections

         21  involve people that are over 26 years old, which is

         22  a startling number because I was under the

         23  assumption that it was youngsters as well.  And with

         24  respect to the three accidents, well four accidents,

         25  one was a hit and run so we don't know how old the
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          2  operator was, but with respect to other three, the

          3  one in Mill Base and the tragedy in Mill Base, both

          4  young kids, 17, 16, but with the other two, one was

          5  in Shell Bank Creek with a jet ski trying to pass

          6  another boat, that was a guy who was over, I think

          7  he was 41.  And in the other jet- ski accident the

          8  gentleman, the operator was like 60, so it's not

          9  just young kids.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Well I can't

         11  speak to Garrett's and Creek or Mill Island, my

         12  colleague Lou Fidler can, but anecdotally from what

         13  I've heard and from what I can see myself by the way

         14  in the Sea Gate area and Coney Island, there's been

         15  tremendous reduction in the amount of kids coming

         16  and strafing the shore as you will and like sorting

         17  missions around, they were trying to scare the hell

         18  out of the community.  Drastic decrease.

         19                 MR. DRISCOLL:  Word gets around.

         20  We've been to Marine Base, and I think is right over

         21  there, Coney Island Creek and I think he only has

         22  like 15 jet- ski's in the water.  I think a large

         23  majority of these jet- ski's are coming from being

         24  launched and there's about 2,300 jet- ski's

         25  registered in the City of New York.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Yes, so on a

          3  positive note you're doing the right job in those

          4  areas.  We're just trying to come up with a way to

          5  make it safer on the watercraft but having some sort

          6  of safety signage seems to, I know it may sound

          7  silly, who reads the packs of cigarettes, but if

          8  it's there presumably, hopefully, there are x-

          9  amounts of people who actually say oh I didn't know

         10  I'm supposed to have the safety jackets if you will.

         11

         12                 MR. DRISCOLL:  If they didn't know

         13  that though then they didn't go --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  They shouldn't

         15  be there.

         16                 MR. DRISCOLL:  -- For the safety

         17  certificate.  If they don't have that and two or

         18  three accidents the operators did not have safety

         19  certificates.  So taking that safety course is

         20  really important to understand the dangers with

         21  respect to a jet ski.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Was anybody else

         23  going to speak from the panel directly.  And besides

         24  the panel there's also -- yes.

         25                 Oh, do you?  Oh sure, thank you.
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          2  Councilman Fidler.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  First of all

          4  I guess the point that you made that the vast

          5  majority of people your finding on jet- ski's are

          6  not kids only strengthens the idea that the

          7  purchaser is probably the user.  That minimizes that

          8  other concern as well.  But I'm just curious from

          9  TCA, do you now inspect, enforce, issue tickets to

         10  folks who lease jet- ski's?

         11                 MR. EILER:  No, not as far as I know.

         12    I would have to --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So there

         14  would be zero City enforcement of the Navigation Law

         15  at the point of lease?

         16                 MR. EILER:  As the police person said

         17  that there aren't any leasing places in the City.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  There are

         19  none?

         20                 MR. EILER:  There are none.

         21                 MR. DRISCOLL:  We haven't been able

         22  to locate them. City Island a few years ago used to

         23  have a number but I think insurance considerations

         24  kind of stopped that trade.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well the fact
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          2  that insurance considerations stopped that trade

          3  probably speaks significantly to the danger of the

          4  operation, but that only again highlights the point

          5  that if we do not make this legislation applicable

          6  to sale, we've done absolutely nothing since there

          7  are no lease points in the City of New York. So I

          8  would make that point.

          9                 Now I just want to ask, I'm sorry I

         10  didn't catch your name on the pre- emption issue?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Susan

         12  Petito.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Yes, Ms.

         14  Petito, are there no areas of laws in which the City

         15  imposes a greater penalty for something that is also

         16  a violation of a State Law or regulation?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  I

         18  believe there are instances where we do.  Usually,

         19  and this is just my thought, is that there is

         20  nothing in the State Law which indicates that that

         21  law intends to cover the field, let's say.  There's

         22  room for the localities to enact their own versions

         23  of the laws or two and have different penalties.

         24  Frequently State Law will say something like nothing

         25  in this statute shall impair the ability of a local
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          2  authority to enact more stringent regulation or

          3  something, you know, language along that line, the

          4  Navigation Law however, because it effects

          5  waterways, I think the intent of the State is to

          6  preempt the field.  It's to occupy the entire field

          7  and to decide how the navigable waters of the State

          8  should be used.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And that

         10  opinion is based upon what language in the

         11  Navigation Law so I can see it as well.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Well

         13  there's an absence of the local carve- out if you

         14  will, but also I think just because it's so complex

         15  and it's so detailed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  But there's

         17  no affirmative statement in the Navigation Law on

         18  the preemption issue.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  No, I

         20  don't believe so.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  There's

         22  nothing that says no municipality, no county shall

         23  make any law regarding the use of the waters within

         24  their jurisdiction?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  I
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          2  don't believe so, but I don't think that that's the

          3  legal standard.  I would have to defer to the Law

          4  Department on this for more intelligent

          5  understanding of it.  But my belief is that if the

          6  State intends to occupy the fields it doesn't have

          7  to say it in the Statue, but if there's a clear

          8  intent that the State wants to be the entity

          9  regulating this area that then localities are

         10  preempted.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And does the

         12  State Navigation Law apply to sale as well as lease?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  It

         14  does not.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  So you're

         16  pre- emption concern would be reduced if we pulled

         17  leasing out since there are no lease- hold locations

         18  in the City of New York now?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  No, I

         20  think the issue is that if the State wants to occupy

         21  the field they've decided that they're not

         22  regulating sale and that would be an interesting

         23  legal question for us to talk with the Law

         24  Department about, but I think that, at least my

         25  feeling about it right now, is that the State did
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          2  all of the regulation that it intends to do

          3  regarding personal watercraft, so I don't know that

          4  the locality would be able to regulate the sale if

          5  the State regulates the entire area and does not

          6  regulate the sale.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Well I can

          8  only imagine that for those people sitting in the

          9  room who aren't attorney's that the entire

         10  discussion of pre- emption makes your eyeballs

         11  rollover a little bit.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO:  Gives

         13  me a headache.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Quite

         15  frankly, having just gone through the issue of

         16  saving children from the terrors of metal bats in

         17  the City and then immediately getting sued in

         18  Federal Court by the bat manufacturers who care

         19  about their retail sales more than the physical

         20  health of children, I'm not all that concerned about

         21  the retailers deciding they want to sue on the basis

         22  of pre emption.  It really, I know maybe that's the

         23  wrong thing to say on the record, but quite frankly,

         24  if they think that the health and safety of New

         25  Yorkers can be defeated on a technicality, I'd like
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          2  to hear them say so, and I'm sure that will only

          3  assist us at the State level making sure that the

          4  laws are sufficient to protect people who are using

          5  recreational vehicles on the waterways.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you.

          8                 We've been joined by Council Member

          9  Gale Brewer, probably hopping from one Committee

         10  also today I would imagine. Okay.

         11                 One last thing, as far as the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs, would it be

         13  burdensome to try to regulate if you were given the

         14  power to do so?

         15                 MR. EILER:  Obviously it would take

         16  resources to do the checks, to do the records, and

         17  all the rest of that stuff.  Yes it would.  I mean I

         18  don't know to what extent, but obviously it would

         19  take some effort and resources and relief.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Will we fund

         21  that unfunded mandate?  That would be coming next

         22  I'm sure.

         23                 Any last statements?  Well we do

         24  appreciate you taking the time out and giving us

         25  your insight into this Intro 563 and we'll see where
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          2  we go from here with this.

          3                 MR. DRISCOLL:  Thank you.

          4                 Mr. Manthos.  Thank you for joining

          5  us Mr. Manthos, whenever you're about to begin your

          6  testimony just please mention your name and your

          7  affiliation for the record.

          8                 MR. MANTHOS:  Thank you Mr. Chairman

          9  Nelson.  My name is Chris Manthos.  I'm the

         10  Executive Director of the American Watercraft

         11  Association.  We are the consumer group, if you

         12  will, personal watercraft owners nationwide.  And we

         13  also represent retailer dealers nationwide and both

         14  here in the City.

         15                 We share, and just to kind of expand

         16  a little bit and to bring it home to you Mr.

         17  Chairman, we have a personal watercraft club that's

         18  based in Sheepshead, in Sheepshead, isn't that in

         19  your District sir, --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Oh, Sheepshead

         21  Bay.

         22                 MR. MANTHOS:  -- Yes, yes, you know

         23  they provided a public --  my apologies Councilman

         24  Fidler, but these guys, they're citizens of this

         25  City, they're responsible users, they actually
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          2  provide a service for the swimmers who swim across

          3  the Verrazano Bridge, or not the Bridge excuse me,

          4  but the straight there, they provide a kind of

          5  safety cauldron around those swimmers and they try

          6  to get involved in other public events.  I have to

          7  agree with the New York City Police on this issue.

          8  I think just about everything in 563 is already very

          9  plainly and very clearly already against the law,

         10  every possible aspect of it with the exception of

         11  one, and Councilman Fidler I share you passion for

         12  if you can do one thing, let's do it.  We can do one

         13  positive effort towards boating safety, then let's

         14  do it.  And if this issue, and the only difference

         15  that I can see between 563 and the current New York

         16  Navigation Laws with particular emphasis on Section

         17  73, if it's the sticker then let's work together and

         18  if you feel that putting a sticker on the boat is

         19  the right thing to do, then I'll be certainly

         20  willing to work with you in a joint effort to help

         21  out on that.

         22                 I do have some issues concerning the

         23  dealers though and the retail dealers here.  It's a

         24  matter of liability.  I'm not a lawyer but I can

         25  tell you that the liability issue I think as we all
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          2  know and torte reform is out of control.  What

          3  constitutes, and where are the definitions and who's

          4  going to create these definitions as far as what a

          5  demonstration by the dealer.  Is that a video.

          6  Councilman Fidler I heard you say 15 minutes.  Is

          7  that a 15 minute video, is that an on- the- water

          8  demonstration?  What is that?  And my concern is

          9  that the liability would that then be placed upon

         10  the dealership, the retail sales guy, the small

         11  business man here in New York City who's trying to

         12  make a buck.  Is that liability placed on him or

         13  not?  I think those are issues that are reasonably

         14  clarified.  I won't even get into the entire issue

         15  of pre- emption.  That's as you correctly pointed

         16  out Councilman Fidler that does make your eyes roll

         17  back.  But I am concerned about my members who are

         18  in this City who are retail dealers, and where does

         19  that liability lay if there's a mishap with the

         20  product that they sell.  That's a big thing for us

         21  and I think that's a very big concern for those

         22  dealers and they've communicated that to me and

         23  that's why I'm here today.

         24                 But again, I think everything already

         25  in 563 is already well addressed by New York State
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          2  Law, it's very adamant. Chairman Nelson, I'd point

          3  out to you that October 31st of this year, before

          4  this very Committee, there was a report issued that

          5  detailed in very strong terms the need to strictly

          6  enforce personal watercraft codes in the New York

          7  City Metropolitan area.  We commend you for that.

          8  Nobody there is going to do anything, nobody from us

          9  is ever going to oppose the safety checks or the

         10  rigorous enforcement of existing law.  New York has

         11  mandatory education for all boaters.  We support all

         12  of that, but we do have concerns with particular

         13  regard to those dealerships and where does that

         14  liability fall upon them?  Who's going to get stuck

         15  with that.  And if stuck, who's going to set that

         16  standard, this is what meets the standard of

         17  liability and demonstration for that training, and

         18  if not.  But with that, I appreciate your time Mr.

         19  Chairman, Councilman Fidler, I appreciate all of

         20  your efforts and thank you for listening to me.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Thank you and we

         22  do have a few questions too.

         23                 MR. MANTHOS:  Certainly Sir.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Councilman

         25  Fidler.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Mr. Manthos,

          3  it's good to meet you today.

          4                 MR. MANTHOS:  Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  I would

          6  respectively however say that for you to suggest

          7  that you are a representative of the consumers and

          8  not the retail manufacturers, distributors is a

          9  little unfair.  You really, in this particular case,

         10  I would suggest there is a dichotomy of interest and

         11  that you in fact, as your testimony pretty honestly

         12  said, you're here to complain about the imposition

         13  of additional requirement on the retailers.  As so

         14  often happens, let's go to the bogeyman and let's

         15  blame the trial lawyers.  And I won't take that

         16  personally.  When you say what's an adequate

         17  demonstration and what isn't, certainly no

         18  demonstration is inadequate.  That is what the

         19  current law that you have just stated was so

         20  emphatic, adamant and pervasive provides for, no

         21  demonstration at the retail level.  We just heard

         22  testimony that given the age of the operators that

         23  many of them, if not most of them are probably the

         24  purchasers.  And the one point in which we can be

         25  certain of having contact to make some sort of
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          2  demonstration would be at the point of purchase

          3  because if you look at the statistics that were laid

          4  out by NYPD, there is just no way that they are

          5  going to get to every jet- skier everywhere in the

          6  City of New York, nor could I in my wildest dream

          7  every hope that they would.  The law is not all-

          8  inclusive, pre- emption issue aside because it does

          9  not affect retail purchasers.  And I'd like to know

         10  if your testimony is, because I asked this question

         11  on the panel before you, that the imposition of

         12  these requirements would in any way inhibit the sale

         13  of jet- ski's in the City of New York.

         14                 MR. MANTHOS:  The answer to your

         15  question, specifically right there at the end is

         16  probably not Councilman. And let me be clear just

         17  for the record and also just if you don't believe

         18  where I'm coming from.  I do indeed represent the

         19  consumer branch, but part of that consumer branch is

         20  also retail dealers. I don't represent the industry

         21  nor can I speak for the industry in any capacity or

         22  form.  I'm speaking specifically about two dealers

         23  that actually you had rightfully called to speak and

         24  I don't believe showed up today.  So I am speaking

         25  for them and their concerns.  I'm not questioning
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          2  whether safety is a good or a bad thing or whether

          3  563 is, we spend a lot of money on boating safety.

          4  People who don't wear a personal floatation device,

          5  or I agree with you on this Councilman, a life vest,

          6  I agree with you strongly on that, are frankly,

          7  they're gambling.  And their gambling with their

          8  lives as we saw this weekend with haul down the Lake

          9  Ponchtrain (phonetic). Every person I've ever seen

         10  who wasn't wearing a personal floatation device, a

         11  life vest is just absolutely insane if they're on a

         12  personal watercraft.  The law is very stringent on

         13  that issue. It requires it.  The owners manuals for

         14  personal watercraft say put your vest on.  You have

         15  to have a vest on.  There's a sticker already on

         16  most personal watercraft that says you need to wear

         17  a PFD if you're going to operate this device.  Those

         18  are the things. My only question is, what is the

         19  standard for a demonstration for the education that

         20  you're seeking?  That's my question and it's a

         21  legitimate one.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  First of all

         23  I don't want you to perceive that I was impugning

         24  your integrity in any way --

         25                 MR. MANTHOS:  I don't Sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- And I have

          3  no reason to do that but I'm pointing out that

          4  sometimes the interest of the consumer and the

          5  interest of the retailer are inconsistent.  And

          6  based upon your testimony I would argue that it was

          7  per say inconsistent that it would be in the

          8  interest of every consumer to be fully informed and

          9  educated as to the use of the vehicle that they're

         10  purchasing and the safety involved in the vehicle

         11  that they're purchasing.  And I would think that a

         12  consumer advocate would feel that way without

         13  reservation.

         14                 Now what the standard is, and I'm not

         15  going to try and give a class in torte law here, but

         16  once it becomes a duty of the retailer, the standard

         17  becomes one of reasonableness.  What is reasonably

         18  expected of that retailer in the furtherance of

         19  their duty?  Now if that retailer is someplace in

         20  the middle of Brooklyn, I don't think that any trial

         21  lawyer, no matter how good they are, could convince

         22  a jury that it was incumbent upon that retailer to

         23  put that boat in the water and teach them on the

         24  water.  So the standard will develop.  It could even

         25  be, truthfully, that the New York City Department of
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          2  Consumer Affairs could promulgate regulations in

          3  furtherance of this new code that would establish

          4  what a reasonable demonstration would be.  So if

          5  your objection is that the retailers will be sued by

          6  the trial lawyers, again, not an objection that I

          7  can accept.  All right.  When there is a public good

          8  that can be done with a minimal burden on the

          9  retailer, that could save someone's life, could save

         10  a few lives, could save injuries, blaming it on the

         11  trial lawyers doesn't work for me.

         12                 MR. MANTHOS:  Councilman, I'm not

         13  trying to say that I'm blaming anything on trial

         14  lawyers.  I think you and I are a lot closer on this

         15  issue than you realize.  What I'm trying to say is I

         16  think it needs to be clarified as to what that

         17  standard upon those retail sales are.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Let's get

         19  real close.  If this bill, or the agency that

         20  enforces it were to promulgate regulations that

         21  stated clearly what was an appropriate

         22  demonstration, you'd support this bill.

         23                 MR. MANTHOS:  If it's something

         24  that's a reasonable demonstration.  For example --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Let me stop,
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          2  let me stop you because I want to, I'm sensing a

          3  kumbaya moment here and I want to get there because

          4  what this Council doesn't do is something that would

          5  be as detailed as actually detailing what that

          6  reasonable demonstration is.  But if we added a

          7  section that says, and the Department of Consumer

          8  Affairs shall promulgate regulations that laid out

          9  the parameters of what a reasonable demonstration

         10  is, --

         11                 MR. MANTHOS:  On behalf --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- You'd be

         13  okay with that.

         14                 MR. MANTHOS:  On behalf of the small

         15  business, hard working guys in the City who are

         16  trying to make a buck, we'd like to see it, we'd

         17  certainly like to review it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Unfortunately

         19  the process doesn't work that way.  You have to just

         20  kind of trust that the Bloomberg Administration,

         21  which has been extremely retail friendly in the

         22  sporting goods industry, especially in the last

         23  month in the City of New York, I don't mean to keep

         24  on coming back to that metal bat thing, but it

         25  certainly, and by the way, I'm a very strong
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          2  advocate for small business and not imposing

          3  unreasonable requirements on business, but you have

          4  to kind of trust that the bill says reasonable, the

          5  Bloomberg Administration is not likely to take it to

          6  an extreme.  So with that trust in there, you'd be

          7  okay with the imposition of the requirement.

          8                 MR. MANTHOS:  I would like to see

          9  whatever requirements the Department of Consumer

         10  Affairs would have and I'd like to share that with

         11  New York City business owners to ask what there

         12  input is.  That's all.  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  When we do a

         14  regulation there is a public hearing on it so they

         15  would have an opportunity to comment on it --

         16                 MR. MANTHOS:  Great, great.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  -- Before the

         18  regulation --

         19                 MR. MANTHOS:  I was indicated

         20  yesterday that New York City Government is open to

         21  all and I've found that very refreshing.  Forgive

         22  me, Councilman, I'm ignorant of the antecedents that

         23  you referred to about the metal bats, but I think I

         24  have seen it actually in the national media, so it's

         25  kind of a pleasure to meet you as well. --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Flattery will

          3  get you nowhere.

          4                 MR. MANTHOS:  I understand that.  I

          5  do want to be clear though, I think we're much

          6  closer on this issue than we are far apart.  And

          7  anything we can do to assist, we're certainly here

          8  willing to do that.  I find it remarkable that of

          9  all, of 2,600, using the numbers that NYPD just

         10  threw out, 2,600 registered personal watercraft in

         11  the City, I find that's a remarkable record that

         12  they have.  You know, for being only involved in

         13  four of six collisions and then out of all the

         14  incidents.  My question though, why just personal

         15  watercraft?  Obviously why not apply this to all

         16  boats?  The discriminate nation factor there, it's

         17  hanging out there.  That's something that we're very

         18  sensitive to Councilman.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  You asked a

         20  question, your point may be well taken.  Maybe we

         21  should be applying it to other watercraft, but

         22  honestly, after the death of Paul Zacharias last

         23  year, we looked at jet- ski's and I would say first

         24  of all that I'm surprised at the low number of

         25  personal watercraft, that are registered in and
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          2  around the City of New York, in a City of eight

          3  million some- odd people that there are only 2,600.

          4  My guess is there are probably a whole bunch more

          5  that were bought on some families trip to Lake

          6  George that have probably been brought back here and

          7  not registered in the City of New York, and as well,

          8  knowing the dearth of actual enforcement and

          9  supervision and supervision in the New York City

         10  waterways, that the number of incidents I am quite

         11  sure is understated.  Now I don't know that that

         12  necessarily involves collisions but incidents that

         13  don't get reported because I'm sure the average

         14  person doesn't think they have to report them, or

         15  see a purpose in reporting them that something

         16  happened.   We have a huge coastline and great

         17  waterways in the City of New York and so there's

         18  plenty of space.  I'm sure that we're 100 percent in

         19  agreement on this one, I would love to see more

         20  people using the waterways recreationally on all

         21  kinds of watercraft.  So I'm certainly not trying to

         22  inhibit it and we certainly have the space for it

         23  and I don't think we do enough in the City to

         24  encourage it as we're trying to clean up our waters

         25  outside of the City, something I believe in
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          2  adamantly --

          3                 MR. MANTHOS:  As do we.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  It always

          5  kills me, I go to Florida or something like that and

          6  I see the beautiful water and I see the people

          7  enjoying it and I see the way government has laid

          8  out the waterfront so as to show everyone how

          9  beautiful it is and how much they use it and to make

         10  access to it ready and available. So I'm not trying

         11  to do that and I do think that you're not going to

         12  come all the way because I know you want to see the

         13  regulation that I can't possibly produce.  But I am

         14  going to recommend to the Chairman that we amend the

         15  bill to provide for such a provision, that the

         16  appropriate agency in the City of New York

         17  promulgate regulations so that retailers will know

         18  very clearly what the extent of their responsibility

         19  is.  And I certainly would hope and expect that the

         20  regulation that is promulgated will be extremely

         21  reasonable in terms of making sure that it is not

         22  overly burdensome and yet provides some level of

         23  education on the retail level, that has to be better

         24  than nothing.

         25                 MR. MANTHOS:  Then let me offer, I
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          2  couldn't agree with you more, but let me also offer

          3  though that just to save time and to save the City

          4  resources and effort, the Coast Guard has already

          5  approved industry videos and training programs for

          6  personal watercraft users, namely in which you all

          7  refer to as lessees or liveries, people who rent

          8  personal watercraft, in that form.  The Coast Guard

          9  already has approved videos from industry sources,

         10  not from the AWA, we're completely separate from

         11  them, but they do have those resources and they are

         12  available, and I would --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  And I would

         14  argue that that might be the regulation, that might

         15  be it, and I certainly can't say with an absolute

         16  certainty that that's good enough for me, or not, I

         17  certainly want the appropriate agency to look at it

         18  carefully enough.  It's got to be something.

         19  Nothing is inadequate, and I don't think that it

         20  places an undue burden, if for example you must show

         21  this video, you must make sure they watch it, and

         22  you can't let them walk out with the delivery of the

         23  jet ski until you're sure they've done that.

         24                 MR. MANTHOS:  Again, I think there's

         25  a middle ground that both of us can reach and I look
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          2  forward to working with you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you.

          4                 MR. MANTHOS:  Yes Sir.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  Closer to

          6  kumbaya than I thought at the beginning here.  But

          7  just to know it is important, I think based on the

          8  NYPD's records themselves, only four percent of

          9  registered vessels in New York Harbor are PWCs, and

         10  nearly 30 percent of the inspections with PWCs is

         11  everything kept in mind as we go toward some sort of

         12  an agreement.

         13                 Well I suppose, there's nobody else

         14  here to testify today I believe, right?  Well Mr.

         15  Manthos we certainly thank you for your time.  --

         16                 MR. MANTHOS:  Thank you for your

         17  hospitality Mr. Chairman and Councilman Fidler.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON NELSON:  -- And as

         19  Council Member Fidler mentioned, work towards an

         20  amendment with us.  Thank you so much.

         21                 With that, this meeting of the

         22  Committee on Waterfronts, for May 31st, 2007 is

         23  adjourned.  Thank you all for attending.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 2:17 p.m.)
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